CHAPTER XXVI
ON TRIAL

1. ORANGES AND JAIL

ITH morning came new expedicents. A writ of habeas

corpus was sued out, whereby Burr was brought back into

court to continue the everlasting discussions. John Ran-
dolph Ieft the jury room again, this time to demand from Burr the
letter addressed by Wilkinson to him, dated May 13th, the refer-
ence to which Wilkinson had eliminated from the cipher letter.
Burr refused to deliver any communication which had been made
to him confidentially, even from such a scoundrel as Wilkinson
and Randolph retired discomfited.® Later, when Wilkinson himj
self challenged its disclosure, Burr was to say that he had placed it
out of his power to deliver. It must be admitted that it was prob-
a.bly more than motives of honor which animated Burr in his per-
sistent refusal. Doubtless, the missing letter contained material
whi‘ch would have definitely proved his filibustering intentions
against Mexico, and thus rendered him liable to conviction on the
misdemeanor charge.

’Ijhe same day the Jury brought in additional indictments
against Jonathan Dayton, John Smith, Comfort Tyler and Davis
Floyd. They were making a clean sweep.

The next day, Burr’s counsel appeared with an eloquent request
for the removal of their client from the sultry, unsanitary jail to
more comfortable and commodious quarters. Marshall looked in-
quiringly at Hay, who remained silent. Thereupon he ordered
Burr’s removal to his former lodgings necar the Capitol, provided
that they were first made sufficiently strong for safekeeping. Pur-
suant to this order Burr was shifted to the front room of Luther
Martin’s house, the windows were barred, the door padlocked, and
a guard of seven men placed in the adjoining house to keep’con-
stant watch on the distinguished prisoncr.? But he remained in
these quarters only two days, for the Government could not brook
such. unusual favors to the man whose life it was seeking. The Ex-
ecutive Council of Virginia came to the rescue with an offer of
thl"ee large rooms on the third floor of its penitentiary for Federal
prisoners, and promised uninterrupted access to his counsel. The
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proposition was accepted, and Burr was to make this his home, his
reception chamber, his library and study, until August 2nd, when
the trial commenced, and he was once morc returned to Luther
Martin’s house.

Though the penitentiary was a mile and a half out of Rich-
mond, and inhabited with the usual quota of thieves, cutthroats,
and incendiaries, Burr found his life there not unpleasant. The
jailer was friendly and permitted him many libertics. Well-wishers
sent him “ messages, notes and inquirics, bringing oranges, lemons,
pineapples, raspberries, apricots, creani, butter, ice, and some ordi-
nary articles "’ along with them as they strcamed out to the distant
penitentiary.? He wrote regularly to Theo, and all his letters are
calm and reasoned, discussing the pending trial dispassionately
and as an acute exercise in law, interspersed with flashes of wit and
the comic incidents of jail existence. Tt was August, however, be-
fore his daughter could come to Richmond, and when she did, she
took, as always, the hearts of susceptible males by storm. Especially
did she make a conquest of the elderly and bibulous, but redoubt-
able, Luther Martin. Thercafter he was more firmly than ever de-
voted to the interests of his client.

While Theo was fluttering male hearts in Richmond, her father,
even when in jail, was making similar inroads upon feminine dis-
positions. While “it has almost been considered as culpable to
evince towards him [Burr] the least sympathy or support; and
many a hollow-hearted caitiff have I scen, who basked in the sun-
shine of his bounty, when in power, who now skulked from his
side, and even mingled among the most clamorous of his enemies,”
there was ““ not a lady, I believe, in Richmond, whatever may be
her husband’s sentiments on the subject, who would not rejoice on
sceing Col. Burr at liberty.” * The remarkable fascination of the
man was timeless.

For five weeks Burr remained in the penitentiary, awaiting the
opening of the new term for his trial. Five wecks, during which pe-
riod the American frigate Chesapeake was fired on by the British
warship Leopard in American territorial waters, an outrage to be
swallowed supinely by Jefferson while he strained every nerve to
force a conviction of Aaron Burr.

Meanwhile, Blennerhassett had left the Mississippi Territory in
June to return to his Island and ascertain the condition of his
property. After a long and arduous journey, besct with anxieties
and knowing that his future was dark and uncertain, he came to
Nashville on June 29th, there to hear of the proceedings against
Burr. “ I think,” he wrote his wife bitterly, “if I should be prose-
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cuted with the virulence that has marked the proceedings against
Burr, my acquittal, by the trouble and expense that would be in-
curred to obtain it, would be worth little more than a condemna-
tion. One thing is certain, I shall take nothing from you to fee
lawyers.” ®

At Lexington, he found trouble waiting for him in the guise of a
sheriff’s attachment for some unpaid bills of Burr which he had
indorsed. There was some ten thousand dollars’ worth of these,
though Burr, as far back as May, had been negotiating for their
settlement. Alston had paid some of the many notes outstanding,
but, with the collapse of the venture, they were coming due at a
rate which his depleted resources were unable to meet.

While Henry Clay was attempting to extricate Blennerhassett
from his financial difficultics by arranging an assignment of Al-
ston’s guaranties to his creditors, news came of his indictment for
treason, and hard on its heels, one David Meade to arrest and con-
vey him to Richmond for trial.¢ Downcast, bitter, seeing the entire
world through jaundiced eyes, all his dreams shattered, the poor
Irish gentleman was taken away to battle for his life. His beloved
Island had been sold to satisfy a modicum of his debts, Alston was
pleading poverty on his obligations, and he was beginning to
blame Burr as the author of all his misfortunes. Yet, when Blen-
nerhassett arrived in Richmond, and refused point-blank to hire
any lawyers in his behalf, Burr arranged with his own counsel —
Wickham, Botts and Randolph — to represent him, and engaged

himself and Alston to pay for their services at such later date as
would be possible.?

2. ARREST OF TESTIMONY

On August grd, to the accompaniment of tremendous national
excitement and a courtroom crowded to the very bursting, John
Marshall, Chief Justice of the United States, opened the trial of
the People of the United States against Aaron Burr, on a charge of
treason. Once more Cyrus Griffin sa. at his side, voiceless, mute.
Joseph Alston of South Carolina, Burr’s son-in-law, made public
display of his reconciliation — after that unfortunate letter of hasty
disavowal — by entering the court arm in arm with the accused.
For the duration of the trial, Burr had been brought back to Mar-
tin’s house for safekeeping, as nearer to the Hall of Burgesses in
which the proceedings were being held.

But it took exactly a week, after the fanfare of opening, for the
trial actually to get under way. A hundred Government witnesses
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wandered around town, eating and sleeping .well at Government
expense, while the prosecution lawyers scurried madly ab(&ut,‘ in-
terviewing, consulting, keeping in constant Lou.ch wuh Je erson,
getting their case prepared. Burr had no such (llﬂic.ulnes. Hls w1t
nesses were few; they had come to Richmond at their own expense,
and the event showed that they might just as well l}ave stayed at
home. But the law of the matter was dug into with cxccedmfl;
thoroughness; law books were studied‘and precedents searched.
And Blennerhassett — in jail, and scemingly the forgotten man =
was being told by a kind friend * that Col. Burr and myself m'ul_d
not be too much on our guard, for he was pcrsu:l.(lcq that every
Democrat, to a man, now in this town, was thirsting for our
blood.” ) ) )

But Blennerhassett was more occupied with his tmublgd fi-
nances and bitter rage against Alston {or not 11.\'mg up to his en-
dorsements than with worrying about lifc;md limb and 1110.100111-
ing gallows. He displays a trengh.ant pen in the Journal wl‘mh hs
kepf while cooling his heels in jail. The once 1*0f1<)11bt(‘d _Eamn,
he writes, * has dwindled down in the eyes of this sarcastic town,
into a ridiculous mountebank, strutting about the streets, under a
tremendous hat, with a Turkish sash over colored c]qlhcs,. wI.len
he is not tippling in the taverns, where h(.: offers_up with hlS liba-
tions the bitter effusions of his sorrows, in audibly bewailing to
the sympathies of the bystanders.” ® Eaton, Wilkixlls(m, Dunban;}ghi
Allbright — the more Richmond saw of these witnesses whf) ;1(
been brought by a paternal Government fmm the ends of its ¢ o-
mains to testify against Burr — the more 1t wondered whet!?m »1[
might not be possible, after all, that Burr’s c.on'stant cry of persecu-
tion and hounding had considerable truth in it.

George Hay was at last ready to proceed on August 1oth and fthc
examination of prospective jurors commenced. But as man after
man was called, and examined, it was found with monotonous
regularity that one and all were stropgly convinc.ed of Burr’s gud’t‘
They had formed their rooted opinions, they said, from tl‘IC’ nevxsi.
papers, from the President’s Proclamation, from the depositions o
Wilkinson and Eaton which had been printed and repn.ntcd and
strewn broadcast until not a child but knew thesa verbatim. It was
impossible to obtain a jury of twelve without fixed prepossessions.
The tremendous outpouring of prejudicial propaganda had seen
to that. Of the jurors finally chosen, only {wo had not at some time
or other expressed an opinion unfavorable to Burr. _

Nevertheless, four were chosen the first day — as men who mlg}?t
change their beliefs after hearing the testimony — and nine werc
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suspended for further consideration. When these came up for ex-
amination the following day, an extended argument took place
concerning the general principles involved in rejecting prospective
jurors because of avowed opinions. Marshall, in a masterful de-
cision, enunciated the doctrine that any deliberate opinion was
sufficient to disqualify from jury duty; that only such light impres-
sions which might [zirly be supposed to yicld to the evidence
would not be sufficient ground for rejection. With these criteria to
guide the inquisition, all of the suspended jurors were rejected for
cause.

Hay was in a rage. He moved sarcastically for a new panel — of
150, of oo talesmen even —and talked of the expense. Burr was
immediately on his feet to object to the insinuation that a jury
could not be drawn under the Chief Justice's ruling, provided —
and now it was he who was doing the insinuating — the marshal
was really disposed to seck proper jurymen. Wickham chimed in
with the remark thac the first pancl of 48 had contained * too many
members of assembly and candidates for public favour and of-
fice.” ** The Court disregarded Hay's fantastic figures, and called
for a new venire of 48 talesmen.

It was August 15th before this additional pancl appeared for
examination. In the meantime, Hay had written complainingly to
Jefferson that *“ the bias of Judge Marshall is as obvious as if it
was stampced on his forchead. I may do him injustice, but I do not
belicve that T am, when I say that he is endcavoring to work him-
self up to a state of firmness which will enable [him] to aid Burr
throughout the trial without appearing to be conscious of doing
wrong.” 11

Burr now did a brave thing. He could have forced the prosecu-
tion to the calling of panel after panel, and dragged out the pro-
ceedings to interminable lengths. Instead, he cut the Gordian knot
by suggesting that if he were permitted to pick eight men out of
the existing panel, he would permit them to be sworn in, regard-
less of their opinions as to himself. Hay was suspicious of this un-
usual proposition at first, but ultimately could see no ground for
disapproval. Burr took his men practically at random, and ex-
pressed his satisfaction even with those who had already pro-
claimed opinions adverse to himself. He even permitted one Miles
Bott to remain in the jury box, though he had boasted that his
mind was completely made up, and it had been proved that he
had publicly said that “ colonel Burr ought to be hanged.” 12 By
this time, Burr was convinced that if the case were permitted to go
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to the jury, any jury would convict him. He must win, if at all, on
matters of law. ) )

Two days later, the completed jury filed into the jury box, the
lawyers clustered like a swarm ol bees at the counsel tables, every
available inch of space was taken, and George Hay rose to 'makc hl‘S
opening address. He intended to prove, he told the straining audi-
ence, that Aaron Burr, on December roth, 1806, at Blennerhas-
sett’s Island, had congregated with persons, to the number o[‘ 30
and upward, with arms in their hands, for the purposc of levying
war against the United States. He would fln‘rh.('r prove, l_lc contin-
ued impressively, that with the persons al'm'cszn.d,A B}n'r.(llq, on De-
cember 11, 1806, descend the Ohio and the Mississippi with force
and arms to take possession of New Orleans.’ )

General William EFaton — of the colored clothes and ﬂz%mmg
sash — was called as the first witness. He had hardly taken his scat
in the witness chair before Burr began his objections. The Court
had, he argued, already determined the proper course of proce-
dure. First the overt act must be proved; then and then only, could
corroborative evidence, such as Eaton’s, be inn'mluccd_in_to court.
At once the big guns on both sides were unlimbered. \\'1lhamA Wit
claimed that it was the prosecutor’s privilege to in_tr()(lucg his evi-
dence in any way he saw fit; that in this instance it was ]11:9 inten-
tion to trace the chronological continuity of the treason from its
birth to completion. Martin took up the cudgels fo!‘ the defense,
and the remainder of the day was spent in resounding oratory, a
wealth of citations, both English and American, and considerable
ingenuity of argument. o

Marshall retired to his chamber that night to write his opinion,
which he delivered on the 18th. The crime of treason, he read, con-
sisted of both the fact and the intention; both must be proved. T.he
Court would not interfere with the prosccution if it saw fit to in-
troduce first its evidence of the intention, but, he added signifi-
cantly, it must be relevant to the crime charged, and not merely
corroborative of a general course outside the actual crime.* On
the face of it, the decision was a victory for the Government; actu-
ally, it was to play its part in saving Burr’s life.

Whereupon the impatient Eaton was returned~ to the stand, to
admit at once that “ concerning any overt act, which goes to prove
Aaron Burr guilty of treason I know nothing.” but that of Burr’s
treasonable intentions he knew much. His testimony, thercafter
rendered with many protestations, followed the .[amili'ur pattern
of his deposition, with all the fantasy and embroidery intact, and
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has already been considered in detail. Because of Marshall’s rul-
ing, however, the juicy bits about assassination were omitted.

There was litile cross-examination, though the important point
was elucidated that on or about March 1st the Government had
paid him the sum of $10,000 on his long-unheeded claim.?® When
he left the stand, he had strutted and pirouetted, but had only suc-
ceeded in amusing the spectators. His concoction no longer excited
belief as in former days.*®

Thomas Truxton was the next witness for the prosecution. Hay
could extract but cold comfort from his testimony. This, too, has
already been described. It was a plain, unadorned account of con-
versations with Burr and propositions which held nothing of trea-
son and much of Mexican conquest, if and when the United States
decided to declare war. On cross-examination he testified that ** we
[Burr and he] were very intimate. There seemed no reserve on your
[Burr’s] part. I never heard you speak of a division of the Union.”

McRae: “ Did he wish to fill your mind with resentment against
the government? ”

Truxton: “ I was pretty full of it myself, and he joined me in
opinion.” 17

Before the day’s session ended, Peter Taylor, the gardener, had
once more recited his story of the warning message to Burr, of
Blennerhassett’s wild talk, of the men on the Island; that some of
them had guns, whether rifles or muskets he did not know, and
that they had powder and lead. But Burr, he admitted, was not
present on the Island during the assemblage of the men and the
ensuing flight.

The defense had reason to be satisfied with the first day’s pro-
ceedings. Aside from Eaton’s pretty well discredited testimony,
nothing had been harmful, and much had been favorable.

Nor was Burr uncomfortable in his new quarters. In fact, Blen-
nerhassett, not as well situated, was bursting with envy. He noted
in his Journal, ** Jourdan tells me, Burr lives in great style, and
sees much company within his gratings, where it is as difficult to
get an audience as if he really were an Emperor.” Solitary, broken
in fortunes and in health, the Irishman added bitterly of his erst-
while confederate that * the vivacity of his wit, and the exercise of
his proper talents, now constantly solicited here in private and
public exhibition, while they display his powers and address at the
levee and the bar, must engross more of his time than he can spare
for the demands of other gratifications.” 1* Blennerhasset could
never understand this buoyancy and childlike optimism which ani-
mated Burr in the darkest hours, when he should have been sub-

ON TRIAL 431

missively crushed under the weight of his misfortunes, and attrib-
uted it wrongly to an insensitivity of spirit and an indifference to
his, Blennerhassett’s, personal difficulties.

In accordance with Jefferson’s scheme of blank pardons and
other more devious methods of obtaining essential evidence
against Burr, Colonel De Pestre, Burr’s Chief of Staff, was ap-
proached with an offer to provide for him handsomely in the
American Army, “ if his principles or engagements were not ad-
verse to the administration. The Col. replied, that he understood
the hint, but it neither suited his honor nor character to serve in
such employment.” 1* Baffled, the secret agents turned their atten-
tion to Blennerhassett. Editor Duane, of the Aurora, visited him
in his cell, and under the guise of a pretended friendship, warned
him that Burr was intending to make him the scapcgoat, but that
he could save himself, if only he would confess in writing to the en-
tire plot.?® Evidently Blennerhassett could not or would not de-
liver the requisite information, for the matter was quictly dropped.

On the following day, August 1gth, the trial was resumed with
the appearance of the Morgans on the stand, who repeated their
1ale of innuendoes and manner of speech rather than of actual
words. They were followed by Jacob Allbright, the Dutch hired
hand, who stumblingly went through his story of seven — or was it
cight? — muskets that were leveled at General Tupper. And all the
while, the protagonist of his story sat listening attentively, yet not
once did Hay dream of calling him to the witness chair to confirm
this remarkably pat evidence that a war had been declared and
levied against the United States on that night of December 10th.

Then the witnesses came in quick succession, most of them con-
tributing but little of value to the proceedings. William Love,
Blennerhassett’s personal servant; Dudley W oodbridge, the con-
tractor for the expedition, and Blennerhassett’s former partner.
From what that worthy had told him, he testified, he had inferred
“ that his object was Mexico.” He also enlivened the day by de-
claring that “ it was mentioned among the peovle in the country,
that he [Blennerhassett] had every kind of sense but common
sense.” 2! A statement for which he was later to apologize to the
indignant Irishman, as well as for other derogatory references.

On the zoth, Simeon Poole testified that he had been sent by the
Governor of Ohio to arrest Blennerhassett, and, hiding himself on
the opposite shore that night of December 10th, had seen men
moving about a fire, that there were men stationed on the island
shore who “ appeared to have guns, and looked like sentinels.”

After several other witnesses had described the doings on the
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Island, Burr arose to object to further collateral testimony of this
kind. All the witnesses had testified, and the prosecution had ad-
mitted, that on the night of December roth, he, Burr, had been far
away from the place where, it was maintained, acts of war were
occurring. In fact, he had then been in Kentucky, a good many
miles away. Marshall turned to Hay and inquired if he had any
other witnesses to the overt act. Hay admitted he had not; that as
to this phase of the counts against Burr all the evidence was in.
Whereupon the defense formally moved for an arrest of all fur-
ther testimony. This was the supreme effort, the move toward
which all their strategy had been directed. John Wickham had
been chosen to make the opening address in support of the motion.
For two whole days he hammered home his argument, while
judges and lawyers and laymen listened agape. Such a wealth of
closely reasoned logic, of brilliant phraseology, of learned citations
and happy wit, of marshaled facts and masterful weaving into an
ordered fabric, had never been heard in an American court before,
and perhaps not since. Tazewell, a member of the Grand Jury
which had indicted Burr, and himself a lawyer of note, declared
that it was ““ the greatest forensic effort of the American bar.” 22
Wickham took the position that no person could be convicted of
trcason in levying war who was not personally present at the com-
mission of the act charged. There was, he admitted, an ancient
English doctrine of constructive treason, whereby the overt act of
associates could be imputed to another, no matter how far distant
from the scene; but in a magnificent argument he shredded that
doctrine into little pieces, citing and subjecting to a merciless anal-
ysis every case that had ever been reported on the subject, pointing
out with irrefutable logic the obvious errors piled on errors in the
reasoning of the judges, the misconceptions of legal elementals,
the barbarous prejudices and the injustices committed in its name.
That doctrine, he declared, had been based on artificial construc-
tions and to bolster an artificial tyranny. The Constitution of the
United States, being 2 new and original compact, should be judged
per se, and for the plain intent of the words employed. There was
no common law of the United States, derived from England, he
argued forcibly; only the common law of the several states that
made up the Union. The Constitution created the offense of
treason, and by the exact wording of the appropriate sections must
they be bound. Nothing was contained in those plain and em-
phatic words about the overt acts of others; only of the overt acts
of the accused.
And, Wickham continued, even if he were wrong on his first
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point, the indictment had been dr.awn ir? defective fashllon. ;I,tnh:c(:
charged Burr with the overt act 1}s§1f, instead of}nzium‘nlghe ad
committed by others, with Burr aiding and abem)?kg,» asl c Lt
mony had been intended to prove, and 'Lhat there O‘IC) ‘t‘ e , Buf,—
ment must be dismissed. For a third p(‘nnt: as an fxgcn;s(l)r’yi purr
could not be convicted of trcason unu} the prmi}pzi s 41“1( been
found guilty, and that thercfore the entire proceed m-g ‘szrli)mina]
wure. For a fourth point: that the facts disclosed n;)[suc 1 ciming
assemblage on the Island as charged. It was lavrvfuf (lxr gu s 10 be
carried in the Western country; they were part ol the 1f1:7h€}rc (,)[
able equipment of every man. There was no evidence anyv
ilitary plot of any kind. ] )
¢ r;;::;lir‘illfj followin}é him closely, intenfupted to inquire wlhethfér_
there were any reported cases in Which it was shown 31?6(‘;32;2
siding judge had the right to decide whether or novt t1 ¢ © Wid,‘.
subn{itted to the jury was or was not.proof of an owtzlr act. wick
ham contended that such a right was inherent, 111;1; t ?]ur};um{;“[
find the fruth of the facts, but the Judgc.must c?ccu casa m' o o
law whether such facts so found, c_()nstmxtcd in la}vx]f anlm’cr .
Which was sound doctrine, and 11n1\'g1‘sally' follm\v»gk(k ,m.(, ::).acmlw
He procceded with his argumcm..P orce was nucya?.m?le(s)[iﬁml "
pany any levying of war. Only Allbright had in an')‘wn‘lsv'c1 fied 10
forcible resistance to General Tup‘per.‘ Even if his evic cnc.t cre
true, it was not enough. The Constitution cal}cd for hluodwr}nCs)Cr
to the overt act. And why, he demanded pertinently, 131 : -u}ilhat
himself not been called? Furthermore, lhcr.e was no evid cn(.cld 2t
Tupper had acted on 2 warrant or authority; t]m1 n]onf{;);xd | be
presumed from his office, as he was from Ohio, and the Is Crime,
in Virginia; and that, in any event, resistance to process is a ,
rime of treason. ) )
bu\L/VlL()etnd}llz cﬁnally sat down, he had covered every p'O~SISlb11(il p;:lcllt{
exhausted every poss'\ble precedent, an.d had esmb::s 110: . exn iwo
as one of the great lawyers of the age. H1.s argument had ta
days, and filled some 65, pages of t.he pr}nted Rc}flmrt;. | expected
The prosecution was in a panic. Evidently they hac [‘)m-h !
nothing like this motion in arrest of further tesur{non]y), (?r .:O ha
magnificent effort as that of Wickham. Hay asked or leave Lo su
mit further evidence to prove the act, thereby a'dmlmln.g t '11 s
case was weak and required bolstering. But his addm(;n’z; Ylw;rr,s
nesses proved of little help. TIsrael Miller, 2 me’r?ber o f;zbout
party, testified to the presence of 32 men, of thle exllfttenlcfet }c‘)cre ot
s rifles, g or 4 pairof pistols; and t‘hat on the Is arT( i ;\? Ahere had
been 1 blunderbuss, 2 pairs of pistols, and 1 fusee. No g
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Purley Howe swore that he had called to deliver 40 boat poles, that

a boat with two men carrying rifles had ferried over to the Ohia

shore for them, and that they had refused to permit his companion

to accompany them back to the Island in their boat.*® This was all
that the desperate Hay could supply to make up deficiencies in
evidence.

When once more the prosccution rested, Edmund Randolph
arose for the defense to continue the thread of Wickham's argu-
ment. But his efforts added little 1o the vich, lustrous weave of his
predecessor. On August 215t he had closed. The prosccution law-
yers huddled in indecision; then Hay asked for a lengthy adjourn-
ment to “ enable them to answer the elaborate arguments of the
counsel for the accused; which having occupied two whole days in
the delivery must have been prepared with infinite labour and in-
dustry.” The defense objected to a lengthy postponement, argu-
ing rightly ““ that the counscl for the United States ought to have
come prepared to prosccute and to understand and repel every
argument and every defense of which the cause was susceptible.” 2¢
Hay and his associates, with months of preparation, with the re-
sources of the Government in back of them, were still not ade-
quately armed at all points. Yet Marshall, with an eye to public
opinion and the open whispers about his probity, granted an ad-
journment until August 24th.

When Court opened again, it was discovered that McRae had
been chosen to lead the forces of rebuttal. He argued that the Con-
stitutional provisions concerning treason were not new or novel,
but were identical in every word with the English Statute govern-
ing the same offense; hence English decisions and English prece-
dents must control in the interpretation of the law. And, cried he,
in England those words have been held sufficient to convict traitors
even though they personally were far away from the scene of the
overt act. Burr, he thundered, was a principal, not an accessory;
hence Burr was legally present at Blennerhassett Island the night
of December 10th, though perhaps not in corporeal body.

William Wirt took up the argument on August 25th. He was a
brilliant orator, of the florid, imaginative school. Yet he started
prosaically enough with the evocation of Marshall's own words in
the prior case of Bollman and Swartwout, words which had been
tossed off redundantly without adequate consideration, and

which, like Banquo’s ghost, rose ever to plague him anew. Relent-
lessly he hammered them home — * If a body of men be assembled,
for the purpose of effecting by force a treasonable purpose, all
those who perform any part, however minute, or however remote
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from the scene of action . . . are to be considered as traitors = —
while Marshall twisted uncomfortably in his SCZIL-.‘ - Wist in.
Turning to look squarcly at the composed pr isoner, ,t -
sisted tllai Burr was the principal in the am{cmus qlmg, ln()un
m i > distinction betwee
X i any event the disting crwe
mere underling, and that in _ O o
inci cCessory ot recognized by the Co :
srincipal and accessory was n { y the C i
!md dll)e Statutes of the United States; that distinction, he 15.1121
‘ is ; ‘hich
scornfully, is recognized only by the English common llw,lu 11;]6
lthe defense had attempted with much labor to prove inapplical r.
But dry law and cogent reasoning were too much 'ior Wirt's }:io
ticular talents. He swung gratefully into that passionatc apos .
phe to Harman Blennerhassett, the dupe, the innocent \l.(,Lllnﬂ(]C
Burr’s machinations, that “man of letters, y\:vho fled fm}m \he
storms of his own country to find quiet in ours, that manl\\ 1(1) ;,-[
E carried with him taste and science and wea!th; an(_l lo, t u:(gle? ¢
snﬁlc(l‘ » that man who “on a beautiful island in the l 1‘11'()]
;‘cal'e<1 “a palace and decorates it with every mmann(i.emb)(‘ (l):lld
ment of fancy,” the wife of whose bosom was 10\@}) E\, §11) ()er nd
her sex ”; and then, he shouted dramau('zlllllyl, as he m:]L' e
css v i i is peac is -
1 53 Wi ;¢ in the midst of all this peace, th :
viewless wings of fancy, “in mi : peace, hiv i
s ici is tranquillity, this feast of the ,
cent simplicity, and this tranq ‘ ‘ °
yure b:mI:]ueL of the heart, the destroyer comes; he comes t? tha:ﬁqd
Ehis paradise into a hell.” Is this poor gentleman Lh? prm(ll Pa "
is i%urr then the accessory? 2® Exhausted with this ;ow.y WOr :
i inti hat was to fix the picture o
i had evoked — a painting t 0
e 1 i -ations to come — Wirt
i nds of generations
the serpentine Burr in the mi : o con
ended iI:)rosai(:ally enough with an etymologlcall) (‘ISSCLUO? (;)ff :‘132
i ar
— having taken the better p
word levy, and sat down — having :
days andy(;'/' pages in the Reports for his effort. IL}rcprcsmtm‘l. :llre
‘ secution, though on a consider-
best speech on the part of the prost ! ac o
ably II:)wer level than the cool, logical reasoning of W ickham
the defense. ‘ .
Benjamin Botts next arose, to take up cuflgcls once 1T101re] bor
Burr. Wirt’s flowery designs had made a deep nnp;cssu;g}upguPon
. i j /es. €T
j t on the judges themselve :
spectators and jury, if no Judg s. Whereupon
i logetics. *“ I cannot promise you, sir,
Botts opened with mock apo p o
a speecE manufactured out of tropes and figures, an}dtp;(::ccﬂe()rid
i i idicule and bring to naugh
then with sharp satire to ridicu : g i the forid
rhetoric of his (?pponem. While Wirt, he smiled, spor:ls mt.h“sll ain
ing Venuses with voluptuous limbs and wantol? ?al\zurlllezs;mrinm
. /ily and meekly through the s
compelled to plod heavily ' Jocnnd
” / ked with laughter, anc 1
of Hale and Foster.” Every one roc £ the sp
was broken. That much accomplished, he turned to the discussion
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of a point heretofore overlooked. The prosccution itself had ad

mitted that all those on the Island, with the possible exceptions o

Blennerhassett and Tyler, had been ignorant ol Burr's purposcs

not knowing them to be treasonable. How then, he demanded, was

it a treasonable assemblage, where those involved meditated
war on the United States, would have shrunk in horror from th.
very thought of it? Taylor’s testimony was next taken up and

molished with nimble sative until nothing was left of that worthy's
bellicose descriptions. Then he turned his attention to the Prea

dent himself, and paid his respects in no uncertain language. Th.
whole prosccution, he charged, was but an attempt to bolster th
waning prestige of an Administration beyond contempt; he traced
in damning detail the devices, the fraud, the chicanery employed
to place Burr high on the gallows, the clever manipulation of pub

lic sentiment to that end. The courtroom was a sounding-board to
rcach the ears and minds of the nation.

Hay rose in rebuttal, and took nearly two days for his speech. He
had been ill, and perhaps that accounts for the listlessness of his
argument. But he was not above making thinly veiled threats
against Marshall. He adverted to the case of Frics before Justicc
Chase, “ for his conduct in which,” he was speaking directly now
to Marshall, “ with other causes, he was afterwards impeached.”
Yes, he continued — and there was no doubt in the minds of the
crowded courtroom as to his meaning — * the censure which the
judge drew on himself was not on account of his opinions, however
incorrect they might be, but for his arbitrary and irregular con-
duct at the trial; which was one of the principal causes for which
he was afterwards impeached. He attempted to wrest the dedi-
sion from the jury, and prejudge the case before hearing all
the evidence in it; the identical thing,” he exclaimed, “ which
this court is now called upon by these gentlemen themselves to
do_” 26

Marshall overlooked the open threat, but not so Charles Lcc.
next counsel to be heard. He pounced upon it with glee, shook it
like a rag, held it up for the inspection of all and sundry, therchy
forcing Hay to a faint denial that such had been his meaning, and
a mild acceptance of his disclaimer by Marshall himself.

On August 28th, Luther Martin, the heavy artillery of the de-
fense, went into action to end the interminable argument on the
motion. It was the longest, as well as the most impassioned thun-
dering of the entire proceedings. It also took two days and 113
pages of reported text. The fires of constant potations burned in
his veins and exalted his rhetoric and tremendous invective. Ht
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Liacked the reasoning of Marshall himsclf in the Boll_njan ;f.nil
wwalrtwout case, he attacked the Government and ‘]cffmv.son ?\n 1
.11er words, he called on Marshall to tread th}c path of nghlu).usA
.« and undeviating justice amid the bloodt?nrfty clamor “f;l\)i ()Sj
_wtion and populace alike, and he sppke in idolatrous (IL'L(,lllb
. ‘I heodosia, the lovely daughter of his client. After him, as an
wi-climax, Edmund Randolph said a few words. It was the afl‘el‘-
_.on of August 29th when the historic debate, onc of the longebty
. most brilliant in history, came to a close. The issue rested now
.+ the hands of the judges.

h I\]t]:cl:dtwo days c{f c%nsideration, Chief Justice Mar:shau 1‘c.af1
.« decision on the motion of the defense to arrest fmthm testi-
"‘wn\. It took three hours to read, and represents his longest re£
snted opinion. First he paid his respects to the asscmblagc' o
“ansel. Said he, “ A degree of eloquence seldom displayed on ‘lr?y
.. wion has embellished a solidity of argument ant.l a (‘Cp[!l of re-
arch by which the court has been greatly aided in forming [hl(_
~imion it is about to deliver.” 27 In fact, to a large extent he fo -
swed almost verbatim the citations, the lqgic and.lhc .1‘cas<)mnlgl
-t 1he defense, especially that of John Wickham in his notable
"o : lysis € his dedi-

It would not profit to attempt a thol‘ou:gh analysi: o dect
2om, which is a landmark in American ]lll'lSl)rll.(l(‘nCC, and SCII-LV(
“ fmitively for all time that the pernicious doctrine of constructive
“rcaeon held no place in American law am!‘ mores. But tl\.e I\{e.r-
anent parts of his decision are as [o}lows. The prcscmlx]n(.lcti
swent charges the prisoner with levying war against the : nitec
sttes,” he declared, * and alleges an overt act of levying war. Ihat
overt act must be proved, according to the mandatces f’f the (‘onéui
“wion and of the act of congress, by two witnesses. It iy not prov «
b a single witness.”” At one swift stroke he had struck the ’],)rosca}p
tion down in its tracks. “ The presence of the accused,” he re-
wimed, “ has been stated to be an essential component part of the
overt act in this indictment, unless the common law ])I‘ln(‘\p‘le re-
‘pecting accessories should render it unnecessary; and there 1s {mt
only no witness who has proved his actual or legal presence, but
the fact of his absence is not controverted. The cmmsel' for the
prosecution offer to give in evidence subsequent transactions ata
“hfferent place and in a different state, in order 'to prove — what?
the overt act laid in the indictment? that the prisoner was one (?f
thine who assembled at Blannerhassett’s [sic] island? No: that is
tot alleged. It is well known that such testimony is not competent
ts establish such a fact. The constitution and law require that the
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fact should be established by two witnesses; not by the establish-
ment of other facts from which the jury might reason to this fact.
The testimony then is not relevant.” Hence, he ended impres-
sively, the jury, having heard the opinion of the Court on the law,
“will apply that law to the facts, and will find a verdict of guilty
or not guilty as their own consciences may direct.” =8
The defense was jubilant, the prosecution downcast and sullen.
Hay asked for an adjournment to September 1st to consider his
course under the Court’s opinion. It was granted. On the ad-
journed day, he shrugged his shoulders. He had nothing further
to offer. Whercupon the jury retired to consider its verdict, and
returncd shortly. “ We of the jury say that Aaron Burr is not
proved to be guilty under this indictment by any evidence sub-
mitted to us. We therefore find him not guilty.” 29
Instantly the entire battery of defense lawyers were on their feet,
protesting against the form of the verdict as unusual, informal and
irregular. Burr demanded that the Court cither send the jury back
with instructions to alter it to the proper form, or make the cor-
rection itself. Colonel Carrington, foreman of the jury, interposed
that it was intended as a verdict of acquittal, but that if it were in-
formal, the jury had agreed to alter it. He was immediately con-
tradicted by Mr. Parker, another juryman, who vehemently de-
clared he would not consent to any alteration of the verdict.
Marshall ruled the verdict in effect to be a verdict of acquittal, and
directed an entry on the record of “ not guilty.” 2
The trial of treason was over, and Burr had once more repelled
the malignancy of fate and the Administration. The one flaw in
the ointment was the illegal verdict —an attempt by Parker, a
Jeffersonian partisan, to leave the poison of doubt still in the
minds of the people. Though the defense was right, and the verdict
should have been corrected, Marshall preferred to arouse no fur-
ther violent debates and cries of favoritism. It was let stand.

8. THE MiIsDEMEANOR Is TRIED

With the principal discharged, the underlings were swiftly dis-
posed of. A nolle prosequi was entered on the treason charge
against Dayton. But Hay had not exhausted the arsenal of his
weapons. Immediately following the verdict he had written to Jef-
ferson that * Wirt, who has hitherto advocated the integrity of the
chief-justice, now abandons him. This last opinion has opened his
eyes, and he speaks in the strongest terms of reprobation.” 3t

“ The event has been (what was evidently intended from the be-
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ginning of the trial) . . . raged Jefferson in return, “not only to
clear Burr, but to prevent the evidence from ever going before the
world. But this latter case must not take place. 1t is now, thcrcifore,
more than ever indispensable, that not a single witness be Apflld or
perniitted to depart until his testimony has been (0mn11.1t~c<l to
writing, either as delivered in court, or as taken by yourself in the
presence of any of Burr’s counsel, who may chr)()s‘c to atten(} to
cross-examine. These whole procecdings will be laid bc;fore (‘01?-
oress, that they may decide whether the def?ct l.ms been in the evi-
;lcncc of guilt, or in the law, or in the app’l('guon of the law, and
that they may provide the proper remedy for the past and the
future.” Burr and Marshall alike were to feel the full impact of his
wrath. “ The criminal is preserved,” he exclaimed, “to become
the rallying point of all the disaffected a.nd the W()Tthls&ss of the
United States, and to be the pivot on which all lh.C intrigues and
(he conspiracies which foreign governments may wish to disturb us
with, are to turn. If he is convicted of the misdemeanor, the Judge
must in decency give us a respite by some short confinement of
lim; but we must expect it to be very short.” )

Obediently Hay moved, on September z2nd, to commit Burrona
new treason charge, this time predicated on a continuing overt act,
starting at the mouth of the Cumberland and extending all the
way down the rivers to Bayou Pierre, and that 11? b.c f.on-vanlcd
10 the appropriate district for trial. In anmh.cr jurlsdlcll()ln, h(;
thought, the Federal judges might be more pliant to the avowec
will of the Administration. But the defense smelled the rat, and
<o did Marshall. It was necessary, they argued, and he ruled, that
the misdemeanor indictment be first disposed of at Ri(‘!lm()nd. ()!l
September grd, after a heated discussion, Burr was admitted to bail
in the sum of $5,000, which Dayton and William Langbourne
promptly furnished, and the prisoner once more walked the streets
of Richmond, a free man. '

Burr, turning on his enemies, counterattacked wfnt_h a demand
for the production of a subpoenaed letter from \«’VIHUHSOI} to Jef-
ferson, dated November 12, 1806. Hay declared he was willing to
place it in the hands of the court for inspectif)n,‘but that it must
not be made a matter of public record. Burr 1n4.<1sF6('1, whereupon
Hay declared dramatically he would rather rot in jail t.han be rec-
reant to his trust. Marshall ruled gravely that Burr might see the
letter, but he would later decide whether it should be entered into
the record, either in whole or in part. The battle was in progress
all over again. ) )

But it was in the nature of an anti-climax. The misdemeanor
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charge was comparatively unimportant, and it was recognized on

all sides that it was merely Jefferson's peculiar method of making

a record for the benefit of Congress. Burr was legally still the de-

fendant; actually Chief Justice Marshall was now, from the point

of view of the Administration, the prisoner at the bar; and all ef-
forts were to be directed to prove his bias so conclusively that Con-
gress must necessarily impeach and remove him from the path of

Republican principles.

Blennerhassett, freed on a nolle prosequi on the treason count,
and admitted to bail on the lesser charge, visited Burr. He was bit-
ter against him and Alston, though he was compelled to admit that
Alston had taken over some of his notes, had paid others, and had
never failed to acknowledge his indebtedness. All his comments
during this period are colored by his splcen and resentment, which
was only human. His Island, his personal property, had all been
sold to cover his notes; his family was far away to the south strug-
gling in the grip of poverty; he was a ruined man. He could not
understand how Burr, against whom civil suits had already been
commenced on his financial obligations, and equally a ruined
man, could be *“ as gay as usual, and as busy in speculations on re-
organizing his projects for action as if he had never suffered the
least interruption. He [Burr] observed to Major Smith and me, that
in six months our schemes could be all remounted; that we could
now new-model them in a better mould than formerty, having a
clearer view of the ground, and a more perfect knowledge of our
men.

Misfortune could not defeat Burr as it had Blennerhassett. The
latter was amazed, and somewhat contemptuous of his former idol.
Instead of formulating vain, impossible schemes, Burr, he insisted,
should devote all his energies to the * destruction of those enemies
who have so long and so cruelly wreaked their malicious vengeance
upon him.” *2 But Burr was incapable of striking back at his per-
secutors with the weapons they had employed against him. In all
his long life there is no instance of a vengeful disposition on his
part.

The second trial opened on September g, 1807. The count was
the preparation of a military expedition against Spain on United
States s0il. Tt was as short and speedy as the first had been long-
drawn-out. Almost identic evidence was offered as to acts and dec-
larations in Wood County; then, following a familiar path, Hay
proflered evidence as to acts committed outside the jurisdiction of
Virginia. On swift objection, Marshall rejected such testimony,
and gave further opinion that the declarations of a third party, or
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accus inad-
acts of accomplices, not in the presence of the accused, were 1
missible. ) o ot bis
e more that mos

On September 15th, Hay, ﬁn(l.lqg. onc T e th
t(stim(;xy was under legal prohibition, movec lo 1 scharg ¢ the
. \ ic -cordingly > jury we
i T insi a verdict. Accordingly, the | .
ury, but Burr insisted on ¢ by, 1 ry went
{In'g)ugh the necessary motions and brought in a straight verdic
“not guilty.”

4. FURTHER COMMITMENT

Hay was not through. He now opened his stratfeg\l/l—has (1l’r(;cc:,i(é
: judicial recordi the evic
s he judicial recording of a
by Jefferson — to compel t | the evidence
in t / -ommit Burr on the new charg :
in the case. He moved to commit Bur (he ne arge o e
i i 7ith it trial in Ohio, Kentucky Tis:
son, which would bring wi : O i
ippi ain Marshall sat as a co ¢
sippi, or all of them. Once ag; i ‘ N
n][aluis[rate, without benefit of jury, while Ha\{ pla}(a.l a[lcsmmmv
ncs:es hitherto debarred upon the stand l;;) gn(,ft 1(:[1;C cstimo 0[
) . - . . " N S
he listening public as for .
as well for Congress and t for the beneds o)
K isoust of the defense, Marshall | ) ¢
the Court. To the great disgt t ¢ e permitied
the widest latitude before himself in the introduc tion of ([[l]]~b I'C:,,d
mony. Evidently he had an eye open for the polnlu;rll 1Lmlc:it];(: n
' i ‘oid even the appearancc ol s g
was doubly cautious to avoi B et oo
‘ernme had no stomach for impe: i :
the Government case. He el
ibiliti i ial of Judge Chasc he had s ‘
sibilities; during the trial of Judj he had \ el
:'athcr a badly frightened man than a fearless exponent of wha
iv judici tity. )
nceived to be judicial sanc ) ' e,
he';(l)lc witnesses wére numerous, and the testimony 1mermm.nblc1
: i -onsider >, Jacob
Only the most important of these will be considered herc.hl 11(1:1(1
Dunbaugh, for example, the sergeant f.rom Fort leasiac,l ancd d
been poétcd as a deserter by Captain Bissell whex; 1€v'1|a‘:‘ b o
A irati is fur / inson ha
ation of his furlough. Wi
return to the fort at the expir | urlou Wilkinson had
found him apt material for his purposes, .masmu}cll} ‘lh[fl;;g(eo ud
have imposed a rigorous sentence upon 111!n for his (? Bu‘rr.had
was accordingly prodded into a long, comphca}cd stor}y:;)rl urhad
asked him to persuade ten or twelve of the garrison at N ;}ms
to desert and accompany him; he had tried to gct. hlm. to's 1‘} _(g Su.
and munitions from the fort. Dunbaugh even 1mplxl§ate( u; su
g mos -
perior officer, Bissell, as an accessory to Burr’s plot.‘ l }1)tn ost Iy
portant of all, from the point of v1ew,of the pmifcu 1:110, was s
testimony of what took place at Cole’s Creek. When

ize the expedition, Burr and Willie,

he averred, were about to seize th . urr and Withe,
his secre[a;y, secretly chopped with axes in Burr’s p

on the boat, while Dunbaugh, in hiding, watched the weird pro-




442 AARON BURR

ceedings. He saw, he swore, two bundles of arms lowered through
the holes they had made in the gunwales, and deposited with a
great splash into the muddy waters of the Mississippi. He had also
seen, he testified veraciously, over forty stands of arms, pistols,
blunderbusses, swords, tomahawks, bayonets and fusees in great
profusion. st

But on cross-examination his evidence was completely and thor-
oughly discredited. The facts as to his descrtion and subsequent
pardon by Wilkinson were elucidated, and he was forced 1o admit
that he had written Bissell that * as both of us might be injured by
this transaction, if he would say that he had sent me as a spy, it
would clear both him and mysclf.” 3 The most damning evidence
against Dunbaugh’s integrity, however, was discovered later in the
form of a letter to Bissell. “ With sorrow I take Pen in hand to in-
form you,” he wrotc lachrimosely, “ that T had to tell (he officers
that you sent me as a Spy against Colonel Burr and had to make
outt what I new againg him. T wrote that you sent me on that
Purpes. The[y] thought My Captain [Bissell] was interested. T told
them that he did not know what Buri’s mening was to take some
men down the River with him. . . . I should be thankful if my
Captain would send some money if their is any for me and my
Boots if my detes air paid.” 35

But the grand event was the second performance of General
James Wilkinson, who rehashed all his old testimony, made cer-
tain notable contradictions in details, and finally produced the
much-advertised cipher letter. It was Botts who noted the erasures,
and compelled Wilkinson to admit, after much hemming and
hawing and shifting of ground, that such erasures and alterations
had been made to protect himself. All through his days on the
stand, he was self-contradictory, evasive, asking permission con-
tinually to change testimony formerly given, standing on his priv-
ilege as to State secrets, declining to answer questions on the
ground of self-incrimination. A sorry performance, indeed, and
one that Jefferson could not possibly have relished. Instead of
clinching his case against Burr and Marshall, it only excited ridi-
cule and contempt among informed people.

Eaton, too, came in for a barrage from the defense. It was as-
serted, and evidence was introduced as tending to prove, that the
“hero of Derne " had been court-martialed and convicted on a
charge of selling soldiers’ rations and public supplies for his own
profit. Major Bruff followed, to pour his hot-shot into the aching
sides of Wilkinson. Burr then called Thomas Power, Spanish spy
and former agent of Wilkinson, to prove that Wilkinson was in

ON TRIAL 448

of Spain. But Power took refuge in a question of privilege

the ey service of Spain —

— he was Spanish born and still an officer in the service ain -
and refused to testify. Thus ended at last the cxammatl?gto »(1 g
fifty witnesses, with Burr unwell, lawyers exhausted, afu iu sI;aat
S0 imlient, and yet so wavering that Burr dcc‘larc*(} langn )‘l. :ns
he *“ did not for two days together understand either the questic

or himself . . . and should in future be put right by strong lan-

guage.” *7 Ecient ovi.
On October 1gth, Marshall ruled there was not sufhcie

dence to commit on another charge of treason, but there ‘Yés or;
the misdemeanor, and accordingly he committed both pl?lv; an'(.
Blennerhassett to Ohio for trial in bail of $3,000 cach, which \1\1.15
furnished. Thus one sorry farce had come to an end, ?11(1 avxlm( 1(21:
seemingly was opening. Burr had been tried on va.uouls (lnltrq s
in various courts to the number of. seven, and e:{ch_ nfnq 1ad been
acquitted or released. Was the malice of th.c A(inllnlfl:l at‘lon to pur
sue him forever and ever? Burr wrote bitterly to Theo, no\'v ret
wurned to her home, *“ This opinion [of Marsh.alll was ‘a m.nlttexf
of regret and surprise to the friend§ of the §hxef Jusucc‘,-.:}nf Uf
ridicule to his enemies — all believing lhat_ it was a S:,l(.l i ll(,cl ot
principle to conciliate Jack Cade. Mr. Hay 1mme(ha_(cl).>a14( [)1a_
he should advise the government to (Ieszsf from fzntl,),fa)sjnnu cu
tion. That he has actually so advised there is no doubt. w
This was true. Hay had no stomach for any furthcr- pro)cccy(-
ings. He was infinitely weary of the' whole 1;1115_’,1&71_ m'es§. Ht_ \‘x\;is
disgusted, too, with the king's favorite, Gcncr;:xl W llklrls()xl, o y
confidence in him is shaken, if not destroyed,” he xymtc\]cifu soni
“ I am sorry for it, on his own acc:oum., on the pu!)hc acyc,ourl\.Lim:)(t
because you have expressed qg)lil;(lons 1'17131{:15 favor; but you did n
K vhat you soon will know.”
Lnl(;‘ljtt;eef?erzgnt\gas never to repudiate the G'encral, e‘vcn af{er the
facts were known. To do so would have entailed a loss o.[ hﬁslown
prestige. He had entangled himself too thoroughly‘ to brea oos}t?l
now. And Jefferson was not honest enough or com ageous Eno&g )
to admit publicly and frankly that he had made a mistake, Zli
he had been deceived. Wilkinson was to be protected., H-Ot‘f)-ndy
through the remainder of his own /_\dm.lmstratlon, but 1111 succee 1
ing ones. A Congressional investigation of the doubﬁc—]m;ﬁe(
General resulted in a hasty whitewashing which convinced no
one; at the outbreak of the War of 1812 he was actually given ]ngh
command, with inglorious results. He .end(‘(l mthc‘r smrll‘y in
Mexico, unhonored, unwept, a stench in the nostrils of Span-

iards and Americans alike.
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5. MoB Spirir

Burr was free temporarily, though the new indictment still
hung over him, never to be dismissed, a sword of Damocles, to be
released at any whim ol the Government. That, contrary to the
general belief, Jeflerson still persisted in his determination to try
Burr again and again until somewhere, somehow, a conviction
could be attained, is evidenced by a letter addressed by him to
Albert Gallatin, dated March 10, 1808. A rumor had reached him
that Burr had sailed to New Orleans, and he wished Gallatin to
warn Claiborne and the colonel of militia in that territory, “ 1
presume,” he added, * that a writ may be obtained from Ohio
grounded on the indictment, by which Burr may be arrested any
where and brought back to trial.” 40

Even as late as 1809, when Burr was actually in Europe, the offi-
cers of Government were still nosing like bloodhounds on their
victim’s trail. Rodney thought Burr was in Philadelphia, and
was trying to get a warrant issued against him on the hoary
charge of treason, and have him returned again to Richmond
for trial.t

It is no wonder, then, that Burr decided at length that the time
had come for him to seek fresh fields and pastures new. In the eyes
of the general public he was guilty, in spite of acquittals and nolle
prosses. Popular indignation still ran high. And his creditors were
descending upon him like a horde of devouring locusts. They har-
ried him with writs and held him under civil arrest in his own
house, pending bail for security. Luther Martin did yeoman serv-
ice for his friend, putting up his personal security in the sum of
$15,000. He was willing, declared Blennerhassett, even to sacrifice
his money, if need be, because of his idolatrous admiration for

Mrs. Alston.*2

Jefferson forthwith laid the records of the case before Congress,
seeking Marshall’s impeachment, while that Judge very prudently
retired to the hills until the storm blew over. Burr traveled to Bal-
timore in the company of Luther Martin, Blennerhassett and
others. The Republican press raged and ranted, and incited to
violence. They went to a hotel and engaged a suite of rooms. Im-
mediately, all the political Democrats threatened to leave the
tainted quarters. That evening, November 2nd, excitement ran
high in town. A printer named Frely led 2 mob under the windows
of their suite, drew them up in straggling order, had a fife and
drum play the “ Rogues’ March,” gave three derisive cheers, in-
terspersed with hoots and catcalls, and marched off. Luther Mar-
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tin almost suffered a stroke in his wrath, but Burr had not been

present to witness the shameful scene.*® ) - ncend.

The following day the excitement grew more Intense. nce @
ary speeches were made, and even more incendiary handbills dis-
uibuted, inciting to mob violence.

AWFUL! !

The public are hereby notified that four * choice spirits " are (}gs l:;ft(’rn;(i)ll;,
i / 2 an, on Gallows )
: Y haled for execution by the hangman, ]
8 O e taf the. ainst them by the unanimous
i S tence pronounced against t y .
in consequence of the sen ed a ‘ 1 by e
i / in the community. The respective s hi
voice of every honest man in : ¢ cctive e o tion
d: first, Chief Justice M. for a reg
suffer are thus stated on the recor , i ot a repetit
l]ﬁus X.YZ. tricks, which are said to be much aggravated l)yohlﬁd[r\ll(zyzt()zzs
. s in ope ; i ¥ - secondly, His Quid Majesty,
2 i the plea of irrelevancy; sccondly, 0 y
e o O e ifing. ishi i he Union, and farm Baron
vi ifli 1t of wishing to divide the Un , B
charged with the trifling fau 4 de the Lo, e s destroy
's grant; thi . B——, the chemist, convicted of consi g
Bastrop’s grant; thirdly B——, ted of pring to ey
ic Fiddle; fourthly, and lastly, but nol st L .
the tone of the public Fiddle; nd . ! ‘ aryer
Brandy-Bottle [oI; a false, scandalous, malicious Prophecy, lh‘x‘t, l)er{rvnﬁ ml\
months, “ Aaron Burr would divide the Union.” N.B. The exccution of accom

plices is postponed to a future day.4¢

Marshall, Burr, Blennerhassett and Martin — all involved in
indiscriminate fury of the mob. _
[h?FlynlS;Sfclxelcrlnprecipitatyely from the c?ty, Blennerhassett, in alarimi
hastened to Burr’s quarters to seek z_ud, Luthcr_l\'[arun €1c111z{n;‘cct
protection from the Mayor and received consoling assurances. bu
the latter would not guarantee Burr’s safety. I.nstcad, he s§nt a
police guard to escort him and Swartwout !mn'ledly to Fl;c ;taie-
coach then leaving for Philadelphia, which ':’vas boar (1e( .t g
horses whipped up, and they clattered away * under ;.1e gl(r)gw
wishes of many spectators.” Two troops of horse and p9 ;fed( rew
up in front of the house in which Martin and. the others ha }
ricaded themselves, heavily armed and swearing to defend t 1er;1-
selves to the death. A mob of about 1500 _ma(ldened SGOI')}::
swarmed through the streets, shouting an.d yelling, prepare ‘ wgt{h
viscous tar and sticky feathers, and dragging after them carts \q‘l}
the effigies of the “ four choice spirits » attired for cxecunop.d 1Ye
police wisely refrained from interfering, and, after a few win o)wst
had been broken, and the effigies halng}tledi th‘ie5 wild emotion spen
i rioters scattered to their holes.
ltSiif(’)::Ir]]:iiet;,eproscribcd, threatened with tar‘and Eefnhefs })y m_obs,
soon to be indicted in Ohio, harried by cr?edltors with civil actions
— where could the hunted man turn now )
In Philadelphia he found temporary r.efuge at th.el h(});_ e ;)é
George Pollock, where he remained in hiding for a u./hx e. |s‘o d
friend, Charles Biddle, found him * concealed in a Frenc
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boarding-house . . . pale and dejected . . . generally alone,”
and talking of suicide. He was shocked at the change which a few
short months had made. ** How different from what he had been a
short time before,” he exclaimed, “ when few persons in the city
were not gratified at sceing him at their tables, where he was al-
ways one of the most lively and entertaining of the company.” ¢

Fallen and proscribed!

Blennerhassett followed Burr to Philadelphia with the fixed
monomania of his own misfortunes. He demanded from the bank-
rupt man payment of the $7,000 due him on their open account,
and made a scene. He even started suit in Philadelphia, only to
find himself forestalled by Luckett, another creditor. Burr was to
be permitted no peace, no breathing-space. Barely had he man-
aged to raise bail to relcase himself from Lackett's suit, than Wwil-
kins of Pittsburgh filed action for inoney lent. Late one night the
sheriff descended again upon the luckless man. In despair, Burr
turned to his sole source of help — Charles Biddle. But Biddle was
not at home. Finally a Mr. Hollowell, a lawyer, was reached and
consented to go bail for the former Vice-President of the United
States.*” Nicholas Biddle, brother to Charles, found him com-
pletely “ broken in fortune & character, & . . . pursued by his
creditors.” Though himself without partiality for Burr, he ten-
dered his legal services free in the many pending suits for the sake
of old family friendship, and felt called upon to explain the mat-
ter in apologetic tones to others.*® The touch of the disgraced is a
leprosy to be avoided.

Yet Jefferson was writing “ He cannot see what shape Burr’s
machinations will take next. If we have war with Spain, he will
become a Spanish General. If with England, he will go to Canada
and be employed there. Internal convulsion may be attempted if
no game more hopeful offers. But it will be a difficult one, and the
more so as having once failed.” + Had it not been for the gravity
of the foreign situation, to which Jefferson was at last compelled
to turn his attention, the President would not have let his victim
slip so easily.

The other members of the Conspiracy suffered varying fortunes.
Blennerhassett finally quit Philadelphia to join his wife and chil-
dren at Natchez, to make his home in the Mississippi Territory
and farm a thousand acres of cotton. All his fortune had disap-
peared in the deluge; creditors hounded him as well as Burr, his
Island was gone, his mansion in ruins, his beloved library, chemi-
cal apparatus, furniture, everything, was attached and sold to
satisfy insatiable claims.
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But real dirt farming was not for him, and he busied himsell in
brooding over his wrongs, making constant demands on Alston for
all the damage he had suffered; until finally, desperate, he yielded
1o the ways of blackmail. He would, he threatened Alston, show
- other motives of action besides those already offeved. These are
(ertainly of a character and complexion I regret it should be my
lot to exhibit to the public. To you, however, it belongs to say
whether they shall remain shrouded within the sanctuary of your
own breast, or stalk forth the heralds of the private treason and
public perjury they will proclaim infallibly to the honest Demo-
cratic electors of South Carolina, who would thence remove you
{rom the chair of their assembly with a different kind of zeal from
that through which they placed you in it.” He has written an ac-
count of all the proceedings, he went on darkly, and intended to
publish it, together with all correspondence, if Alston did not pay
him forthwith.s® Alston was Governor then, and hence politically
vulnerable. The baseness of the attempt may be extenuated only
by the despairing condition of the man. It failed him, yet the
hook still remained unpublished, to be used again as a threat
against Burr in 1813.

He removed to New York in 1812, and later to Montreal, where
he practiced law obscurely. In 1822 he sailed to Ircland to seek
a reversionary claim, there to die nine years later, aged 63, on the
[sland of Guernsey. )

Senator John Smith, the Kentucky storekeeper, avoided expul-
sion from the Senate by a single vote; Jonathan Dayton went \‘\"Lih[
and rebuilded his fortunes; General John Adair served with dis-
linction in the War of 1812 and was finally chosen Governor of
Kentucky; Bollman tried to establish himself as a physician ip 'th.e
United States, failed, and returned to Europe after many vicissi-
tudes; Samuel Swartwout, thirty years later, became Collector of
the New York Port and embezzled the public funds; Jackson won
enduring fame in the forthcoming war and rose to the Prem.dcncy
of the United States. Varying fortunes, and a wide scattering of
the men who had followed Burr in his glamorous schemes.

But for Aaron Burr himself there was no peace. All the forces
of an outraged society were unleashed against him, he was an out-
law, an outcast, still in danger of life and liberty. Europe bgck-
oned him as at once a mode of escape and a means to 2 new life.
For, in spite of misfortunes that would have crushed another
man, he had not given up his plans. Mexico snl.l !ured with irre-
sistible force, a guiding beacon to all the remaining years of his
life. And only in the Chancellories of Europe was there hope now
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for success and ili
rehabilitation. He
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CuAPTER XXVII
MAN WITHOUT A COUNTRY

1. FLIGHT

life in ruins, with eyes wurned to Europe, eternally optimis-

tic. Yet his flight from the shores of the country that had
spurned him required stealth and finesse. Too many were eager to
know his whereabouts, and chain him, if they could, to the very soil
he wished to leave. He made his way by devious means to New
York, and engaged passage on the British packet, Clarissa Ann,
under the pseudonym of H. E. Edwards. For a month preceding
the date of departure he lay concealed in the houses of his friends,
not daring to show his face. To cast off suspicion, he wrote Theo,
‘ Make—-—publish, about the time you get these, that Gamp.
passed through that place on the — day of June, on his way to
Canada, accompanied by one Frenchman and two Americans or
Englishmen.” * Which announcement duly appeared in the public
prints. Gamp, Gampy, Gampillo, Gampasso, were pct names cur-
rent in the family, and were used indiscriminately for Aaron Burr
himself and his little grandson, Aaron Burr Alston.

On !une 7 1808, muffied against inquiring looks, H. E. Edwards
boarded the packet, anchor was weighed, sails bellied to catch the
vagrant breeze, and Burr had set sail for the unknown. But first
there had been a tragic leave-taking from one M..ry Ann Edwards,
likewise muffled, and otherwise known to fame as Theodosia Burr
Alston, with tears and desperate affection on the one side, and
smiling, albeit Spartan fortitude on the other.

Halifax was the packet’s first port of call, and Burr held to the
seclusion of his cabin most of the way, shunning the usual sea-
going intimacy with the other twenty-six passengers on board. At
that Nova Scotian port he was welcomed by Sir George Prevost,
a relative on his deceased wife’s side, who furnished him with
letters of introduction to family and friends in England, as well
as a passport certifying that “ G. H. Edwards was bearer of dis-
patches to the Right Honorable Lord Castlereagh, at whose office
he was immediately to present himself on his arrival at London.” 2

The passage was comparatively swift; by July 1sth, he had
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STAthe age of 51, Aaron Burr stood on the threshold, his past




